CONTRACT

BETWEEN

THE HAMDEN BOARD OF EDUCATION

&

HAMDEN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

2015-2017

December 19, 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE		1
ARTICLE I - RE	COGNITION, RIGHTS, AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES	1
SECTION 1.1		1
SECTION 1.2		1
SECTION 1.3		1
SECTION 1.4		1
ARTICLE II - T	EACHING CONDITIONS	2
SECTION 2.1	DISCIPLINE, SUSPENSION, DISCHARGE	2
SECTION 2.2	SCHOOL YEAR	
SECTION 2.3	Work Day	
SECTION 2.4	CLASS ASSIGNMENT	3
SECTION 2.5	LUNCH PERIODS	4
SECTION 2.6	CLASS SIZE	4
SECTION 2.7	TEACHING LOAD	5
SECTION 2.8	PREPARATION PERIODS	
SECTION 2.9	BEFORE-AND AFTER-SCHOOL MEETINGS	6
SECTION 2.10	STUDENT DISCIPLINE	
SECTION 2.11	PROTECTION OF TEACHERS	
SECTION 2.12	MIDDLE SCHOOL PROGRAM	8
ARTICLE III -	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES	8
SECTION 3.1	Purposes	8
SECTION 3.2	DEFINITIONS	8
SECTION 3.3	Тіме Limits	
SECTION 3.4	INFORMAL PROCEDURES	
SECTION 3.5	FORMAL PROCEDURES	
SECTION 3.6	MISCELLANEOUS	
SECTION 3.7	REPRESENTATION	
ARTICLE IV – 1	FEACHERS' RIGHTS	
SECTION 4.1	RIGHTS WITHIN BUILDINGS	
SECTION 4.2	OPERATIONAL RIGHTS	11
SECTION 4.3	DEDUCTIONS	12
ARTICLE V - L	EAVES	13
SECTION 5.1	SICK LEAVE	13
SECTION 5.2	MILITARY LEAVE	15
SECTION 5.3	CHILD REARING/MATERNITY LEAVE	15
SECTION 5.4	SABBATICAL LEAVE	15
SECTION 5.5	PROFESSIONAL LEAVE	17
SECTION 5.6	MISCELLANEOUS LEAVES	17
SECTION 5.7	MISCELLANEOUS	18
ARTICLE VI - 1	FRANSFERS AND PROMOTIONS	19
SECTION 6.0	DEFINITIONS	19
SECTION 6.1	TRANSFERS	19
SECTION 6.2	PROMOTIONS	20

ARTICLE VII -	PERSONNEL FILES	
SECTION 7.1	PERSONNEL FILES	21
ARTICLE VIII -	- NON-PROFESSIONAL DUTIES	21
ARTICLE IX - 1	FEACHER FACILITIES	21
SECTION 9.0		
SECTION 9.3		
ARTICLE X – M	AINTENANCE OF STANDARDS	22
ARTICLE XI - N	MISCELLANEOUS	
SECTION 11.1	School Visitors	
SECTION 11.2	TEACHER DIRECTORY	
SECTION 11.3	Personal Data Statement	
SECTION 11.4	SUMMER SCHOOL	
SECTION 11.5	Adult Education	
SECTION 11.6	PUPIL EVALUATION	
SECTION 11.7	RESIDUAL RIGHTS	
SECTION 11.8	OPERATIONAL AGREEMENTS	
ARTICLE XII -	AMENDMENTS TO THE AGREEMENT	24
ARTICLE XIII -	- DURATION	24
ARTICLE XIV -	SEVERABILITY	24
ARTICLE XV -	SALARY SCHEDULES	24
SECTION 15.1	GENERAL SCHEDULES	24
SECTION 15.1	HOURLY PAY	
SECTION 15.2 SECTION 15.3	ADVANCEMENT ON THE SALARY SCHEDULE	
SECTION 15.5	EXTRA-LOAD REMUNERATION	
SECTION 15.4 SECTION 15.5	SALARY ADJUSTMENT FOR CHANGE IN DEGREE STATUS	
SECTION 15.6	Adult Education/Evening High School Teachers	
	FRINGE BENEFITS.	
	PREMIUM CO-PAYMENT	
SECTION 16.1 SECTION 16.2	PREMIUM CO-PAYMENT	
SECTION 16.2 SECTION 16.3		
SECTION 16.3	INSURANCE INSURANCE WAIVER	
SECTION 16.5	INSURANCE WAIVER	
SECTION 16.6	Benefits For Retirees	
SECTION 16.7	LONGEVITY	
SECTION 16.8	Severance Pay	
SECTION 16.9	CHANGE IN CARRIER	
SECTION 16.10		
	- MISCELLANEOUS COMPENSATION	
SECTION 17.1	STIPEND POSITIONS	
SECTION 17.1 SECTION 17.1	STIPEND POSITIONS	
SECTION 17.1 SECTION 17.2	HIGH SCHOOL AND MIDDLE SCHOOL COACHES	
SECTION 17.2 SECTION 17.3	INTRAMURAL INSTRUCTORS	
SECTION 17.3 SECTION 17.4	DEPARTMENT CHAIRPERSONS	
SECTION 17.4 SECTION 17.5	TEAM LEADERS	
010111110		

ARTICLE XVIII-	REDUCTION IN FORCE (RIF)	
ARTICLE XIX- F	ACULTY SENATE	
APPENDIX A	HEALTH PLAN	
APPENDIX B	FLEX DENTAL PLAN	44
HOW IT WORKS	5	
DIAGNOSTIC &	PREVENTIVE SERVICES	
MAJOR SERVICE	ES	45

PREAMBLE

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between THE HAMDEN BOARD OF EDUCATION, the duly elected and duly constituted Board of Education of the Town of Hamden, State of Connecticut, operating pursuant to the Ordinances and Charter of said Town and the Statutes of the State of Connecticut and charged thereby with responsibility for the system of public education within said Town, and THE HAMDEN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION as Bargaining Agent for all of the members of the Teachers' Unit as defined in Public Act 10-153a of the State of Connecticut who are employed by the Hamden Board of Education.

THE PURPOSE of this Agreement is to encourage an effective working relationship between the parties in order to best serve the cause of public education in the Town of Hamden.

IN FURTHERANCE of this purpose, the parties hereto accept the provisions of this Agreement as their collective and individual commitment; pledge themselves to actively and cooperatively honor and support said provisions in good faith; and seek to fulfill the obligations, commitments, and representations made herein to the best of their respective abilities for the duration of this Agreement.

Article I - Recognition, Rights, and Obligations of the Parties

Section 1.1

The Board hereby recognizes the Hamden Education Association as the exclusive representative of the teachers' unit according to Section 10-153b including certified teachers and persons employed under a durational shortage area permit; the Association having been elected pursuant to a referendum certified by the American Arbitration Association on June 6, 1979.

Section 1.2

Nothing in this Agreement shall in any way limit or contravene the authority of the Board as provided in the General Statutes of Connecticut and the Town of Hamden. The Board shall not, however, exercise any of its authority specified above so as to contravene a specific provision of this Agreement.

The parties agree that innovation in educational programs is important to the Hamden Public Schools. The Board reserves the right, by providing advance written notification to the Association, to request negotiations over provisions in this Agreement that may be affected by such innovations (*e.g.* changes in education delivery models), such as (but not limited to) length of school day, transfers, assignments, and preparation periods. Such negotiations shall be governed by the provisions of Conn. Gen. Stat. Section 10-153f (e).

Section 1.3

As used in this contract the term "employee" shall mean anyone included in the Teachers' Unit according to Section 10-153b of the Connecticut General Statutes.

Section 1.4

Each party to the contract reserves the right to designate its own representative to any meeting or committee concerning terms of this contract.

Article II - Teaching Conditions

Section 2.1 Discipline, Suspension, Discharge

- a. Teachers shall not be disciplined, including suspensions except for just cause. Termination of contract of certified teachers shall be in accordance with the state statute as amended, and termination of persons employed under a durational shortage area permit shall be at the discretion of the Superintendent, and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- b. Notification of suspension shall be given in writing to the employee.
- c. When possible, the president of the HEA shall be notified prior to any disciplinary action involving suspension.
- d. If suspension is found to be unjustified, the full pay and benefits shall be restored for the period of that suspension.
- e. Claims under this provision shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- f. No derogatory statements shall be put into any teacher's file without that teacher's knowledge.

Section 2.2 School Year

- a. The school year shall be established by the Board of Education. The teacher work year shall include the school year for pupil attendance as established by the Board of Education plus four (4) additional teacher work days plus two (2) additional preparation days, one at the beginning and one at the end of the year.
- b. The Board of Education shall notify the HEA of any change in the school year sixty (60) days prior to the commencement of each school year.
- c. If school is held on the first day of Rosh Hashanah, Yom Kippur, Christmas and/or Good Friday, personal leave shall be available for teachers.
- d. Changes in the school calendar may be made by the Board in the case of emergency, inability to meet the minimum State requirements or when the schools are closed because of weather conditions. The Board agrees to negotiate with the HEA regarding the impact as a result to changes in the school calendar as adopted by the Board.
- e. Teachers will be expected to meet requirements at the end of the school year as defined by the school principal. A teacher may file a grievance under the procedures outlined herein, if he/she judges that a given requirement is unreasonable.
- f. The school calendar for the Hamden Public Schools will be posted in each school and an electronic copy made available to every employee prior to the end of the current school year.
- g. In the event the Board of Education chooses to lengthen the school year beyond that in effect at the beginning of the 2008-2009 school year, the Board will meet with the Association within thirty (30) days of making such a decision to negotiate the impact of this change.

- h. The school year for guidance counselors shall be extended by five days during the summer recess to provide coverage as follows:
 - 1. The schedule of work dates for guidance responsibilities shall be announced to counselors by the administrator no later than April 1 preceding the summer of work.
 - 2. The counselors shall select, on a first-come, first-served basis, the specific summer hours of summer work.
 - 3. No involuntary assignment of hours shall be made unless the required hours of coverage have not been met through the voluntary system.
 - 4. Involuntary assignments shall be made on a rotating seniority basis, until the required number of summer hours are met.
 - 5. Guidance personnel shall be paid their annual per diem as of July 1 of the summer the assignment occurs.

Section 2.3 Work Day

- a. The school day, with respect to student attendance, is understood to be a matter of educational policy reserved to the Board's discretion.
- b. All teachers in a school will work the same hours unless a change is negotiated with the Association in accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat §10-153f (e). Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit a teacher from voluntarily working at school before and after the stated time limits.
- c. All teachers who are not assigned to other duties are required to be present in their assigned classrooms no less than fifteen minutes before the beginning of the school day and remain in the school building no less than fifteen (15) minutes after the conclusion of the school day except as specified in Section 2.9 of this Article.
- d. If the Board schedules the student school day to be greater than the hours and minutes described herein in Appendix D, the parties shall negotiate the impact of such change in accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat. §10-153f(e).
- e. Non-tenured teachers employed commencing with the 2005-2006 school year may be assigned up to a total of ten (10) additional hours of training in their first ten (10) school months of employment with the district.

Section 2.4 Class Assignment

- a. Notification in writing will be given to all teachers of any changes in their programs, schedules, school assignments, room assignments, grades, and/or subjects for the following year no later than the close of the previous year. However, should an unforeseeable situation (i.e., severe financial difficulty, construction or renovation problems, or other due and sufficient cause) arise during the summer which necessitates a change in any of the items listed herein the teacher will be notified in writing as soon as possible.
- b. Departmentalized teachers in the middle and senior high schools shall be assigned for no more than five (5) teaching periods per day. Should the period structure of the student school day change, the parties shall renegotiate the provisions of this section in accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-153f(e).

c. Any teacher assigned to a non-compensated extra-curricular activity during school hours shall have such an assignment considered a teaching period unless the teacher elects it in place of another assignment.

Section 2.5 Lunch Periods

Middle and senior high school teachers shall be provided uninterrupted duty-free lunch periods of not less than those provided for their students. Elementary school teachers shall be given uninterrupted duty-free lunch periods of not less than 45 consecutive minutes, provided that they may volunteer to provide supervision during this time in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.7(b).

Section 2.6 Class Size

- a. Nothing in the Agreement shall require:
 - 1. Alterations, renovations, or additions to buildings.
 - 2. Busing pupils out of a school building.
 - 3. Redistricting of a school area.
 - 4. Use of portable classrooms.
- b. The Board shall maintain the teacher-pupil ratios listed below, except under circumstances of extreme financial hardship. The Board must successfully demonstrate to the HEA the financial status of the District, that is responsive to the alteration of the below ratios. If the HEA objects to the circumstances, the parties shall file for expedited binding arbitration in accordance with the rules set forth by the American Arbitration Association:
 - 1. The classroom teacher-pupil ratio in grade levels K-3 shall be one to twenty (20).
 - 2. The classroom teacher-pupil ratio in grade levels 4-6 shall be one to twenty-five (25).
 - 3. Every effort will be made to avoid scheduling split grades in (b) 1 and 2 above.
 - 4. The classroom teacher-pupil ratio in grade levels 7-12 shall be one to twenty-five (25).
 - 5. The Board will make every effort to adhere to a class size of thirty (30) students in physical education classes.
 - 6. Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Board to establish a class of less than ten (10) students.
- c. Special education classes shall be regulated according to State Law.
- d. Where specialized pupil stations are provided, as in laboratories, shop, art rooms, keyboarding rooms, music rooms, media centers, and similar situations, the number of students assigned shall not exceed the number of pupil stations as determined by members of the department concerned and the administrator of the school in accordance with Board of Education policy and applicable OSHA regulations.

Section 2.7 Teaching Load

- a. The policy of the Board of Education is to make subject teaching assignments in the middle and senior high schools as reasonable as possible. In the interest of equitable distribution of class assignments, no teacher shall be required to teach more than three classes (sections) of a given ability level and preferably no more than two of a given level. In the event a teacher agrees to teach in excess of the above stated limit, he/she shall and the Superintendent shall sign a waiver notice indicating the same. While it is impractical to predict all potential assignments, every effort shall be made to avoid requiring middle and senior high school faculty members to teach a combination of subjects and grade levels that will impose an unnecessarily diverse number of preparations. Remedial and alternative programs, which meet on a regular basis, will be considered separate preparations. Three separate and distinct preparations shall constitute the desirable maximum. A preparation is defined as subject and grade.
- b. All elementary school teachers shall be relieved of all cafeteria and playground supervision during noon hour. The principal may seek volunteers to provide lunch supervision duty. Such teachers providing lunch supervision shall receive a stipend for this assignment at the hourly rate of \$23.92. Payment of this stipend shall be based on a minimum of thirty minutes per day. After consultation with the faculty, the principals shall schedule bus duty in each school.
- c. Any secondary teacher who is required to substitute for another teacher's class shall be paid \$35.00 per class. Homeroom is not defined as a class. At the elementary level, any elementary teacher who covers a class for an absent art, music or physical education teacher will be paid \$35.00 per class. A period is defined as a 45 to 60 minute length of time. Any elementary teacher who covers for an absent teacher who has called in at the prescribed time and for whom a substitute has not been provided will be paid \$35.00 per class.
- d. Annually in each elementary school the tentative scheduling of Art, Music, and Physical Education shall be done by a committee of the school principal, representative classroom teachers and the Art, Music and Physical Education teachers, subject to the final approval of the principal. Every reasonable effort shall be made to schedule the meeting prior to the close of school.
- e. The Superintendent will make every reasonable effort to see that students identified by PPT are distributed equitably among the entire faculty. Grievance review of this provision, if any, shall terminate at the Board level.
- f. Reasonable efforts shall be made to assign teachers to no more than two different schools in an academic year.
- g. Every reasonable effort shall be made for teachers of art, music, and physical education at the elementary level to be scheduled for five (5) minutes transition time between classes on a daily basis.

Section 2.8 Preparation Periods

a. Every teacher in the (Grades 9-12) shall have one period per day for preparation. Teachers (Grades 9-12) who are involved in forms of cooperative planning or team planning shall be allotted their daily preparation periods at the same time, insofar as reasonable scheduling permits. Teachers (Grades 9-12) involved in team planning shall be allotted three (3) such periods per week for this purpose. In addition, one period per week shall be for individual planning and one period per week shall be used for either team or individual planning as determined by the Administration.

- b. Every teacher (Grades 7-8) shall have one period per day for preparation. Team planning shall be allotted two (2) periods per week for this purpose. In addition, two (2) periods per week shall be for individual planning and one (1) period per week shall be used for either team or individual planning as determined by the team leader in consultation with the Administration.
- c. An elementary teacher (Grades PreK-6) shall be released from class when another teacher is teaching that class. This time shall be used as a preparation period.
- d. All elementary teachers shall receive not less than 180 minutes of individual and or team preparation time per week as determined by the Administration, provided that at least 50% of such time shall be reserved for individual planning. There shall be no less than thirty (30) minutes as a planning block.
- e. The specialist schedule should be drawn up in consultation with the administrator and the specialist involved.

Section 2.9 Before- and After-School Meetings

- a. With the aim of continuing to improve communication with parents and of utilizing fully the professional resources of the teaching profession, faculties are required to arrange meetings with parents at times mutually agreeable to the teachers and the principal of each school. Teachers are requested to attend such meetings. When teachers are requested to attend such meetings by the administration and/or parents, the meetings should be scheduled at times mutually convenient to the teachers and the parent(s). When possible, teachers will be informed of the issues to be discussed at this meeting prior to the meeting. Teachers are required to attend the annual Open House.
- b. All teachers recognize their responsibilities to schedule conferences with parents. Conference sessions shall be scheduled by the Superintendent or his/her designee, and all teachers shall be required to attend all such conference sessions. The Board retains the right to modify the provisions of this Agreement concerning parent-teacher conferences that relate to permissive subjects of bargaining, provided however that the Association reserves the right to negotiate over the impact of any such changes.
- c. At the elementary level there will be four (4) early dismissal days for conferences to be held in the Fall and Spring; two (2) of the conferences will be afternoon conferences and two (2) will be evening conferences.
- d. Teachers at the secondary levels, middle and senior high school shall schedule one evening conference of two hours in duration at the end of the first, second and third marking periods.
- e. All evening conferences shall be scheduled for two continuous hours between 6:00 P.M. and 9:00 P.M.
- f. During any evening conference, administrative supervision shall be provided at each conference site.

- g. The elementary conference schedule, including evening conferences, shall be developed by teachers for parents of their reading/language art students.
- h. It is understood that all teachers shall remain on-site during all scheduled parentteacher conference periods.
- i. All secondary teachers (grades 7-12) are required to maintain office hours equal in length to one class period on one day each week after school for the purpose of meeting their students. Teachers will file the schedule of such meetings with the principal.
- j. All teachers are required to be available for staff meetings on Thursdays, except that teachers will be relieved of one Thursday meeting responsibility each month. The length of each meeting shall not be more than one hour, unless those present agree to a longer meeting. Such meetings shall commence at a reasonable time after dismissal. One additional meeting per month may be called when the need arises. Teachers shall receive a minimum of three (3) school days advance notice of such meetings except in exigent circumstances, i.e. those requiring immediate action.

Section 2.10 Student Discipline

- a. The Board recognizes its responsibility to give all reasonable support and assistance to teachers with respect to the maintenance of control and discipline in the classroom.
- b. A teacher may temporarily exclude a pupil from class when the grossness of the offense, the persistence of the misbehavior, or the disruptive effect of the violation makes the continued presence of the student in the classroom intolerable. In such cases, the teacher will furnish full particulars of the incident to the principal, in writing, as promptly as his/her teaching obligation will allow. The principal may reinstate the student after advising the teacher that some adjustment has been made or after holding a conference which includes the teacher plus at least one of the following: a counselor, an administrator, the student's parents, the school social worker, or psychological examiner. The teacher shall be informed of the results of any such conference and the adjustment made before the student's return to class.
- c. If the student continues to cause serious disruption, the principal may suspend said student for such a period of time as the principal and teacher so designates in accordance with Board policy.
- d. Student discipline is governed by statute, and the provisions of this Article therefore shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 2.11 Protection of Teachers

- a. A teacher shall report immediately in writing to his/her principal and to the Central Office any case of assault suffered to him/her in connection with his/her employment.
- b. Such report shall be forwarded through the Superintendent to the Board. The Board shall comply with any request from the reporting teacher for information possessed by the Board, about the persons involved, which relates to the incident reported, and is not privileged under law.
- c. The Board agrees to provide legal counsel to defend any teacher in any action arising from any claim, demand, suit or judgment by reason of alleged negligence or other act

resulting in accidental bodily injury to, or death of, any person or in accidental damage to, or destruction of, property within or without the school building, providing such teacher, at the time of the accident resulting in such injury, death, damage or destruction, was acting in the discharge of his/her duties within the scope of his/her employment or under the direction of the Board. The protections of this section are provided in accordance with, and are subject to the limitations of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-235. As such, this section shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

- d. At the discretion of the Board, if criminal proceedings are brought against a teacher alleging that he/she committed an assault in connection with his/her employment, the Board may furnish legal counsel to defend him/her in such proceedings.
- e. Whenever a teacher is absent from school as a result of personal injury caused by an assault upon the teacher arising from and in the course of his/her employment, he/she shall be paid his/her full salary for the period of such absence without having such absence charged to his/her annual or accumulated sick leave. The protections of this section are provided in accordance with, and are subject to the limitations of Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-236a. As such, this statutory protection shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Any amount of salary payable pursuant to this Section, when combined with any Worker's Compensation benefit received, shall not exceed the injured teacher's annual salary. Any teacher filing a successful claim under Worker's Compensation, shall have one-third of an absence charged against his/her annual or accumulated sick leave.
- f. Any medical expenses not covered by insurance incurred as a result of any injury in any school related function will be paid for by the Board.

Section 2.12 Middle School Program

Should the Board reallocate the minutes in the teaching day at the middle school to permit an extended homeroom period for mentoring or similar programs, upon the request of the Association the Board shall negotiate the impact of any new responsibility in accordance with Connecticut General Statutes, Section 10-153f (e). Any such responsibility shall not be considered a "non-compensated extra-curricular activity" as that term is used in Section 2.4(c) or a "class" under Section 2.7(c).

Article III – Grievance Procedures

Section 3.1 Purposes

The prompt, informal, and confidential adjustment and settlement of grievances is encouraged; therefore, the following procedures to accomplish these purposes are hereby established.

The purpose of the grievance procedures, as set forth herein, is to secure and obtain, at the lowest possible administrative level, equitable solutions to problems which may arise under the terms of the Agreement and which are alleged by a teacher to affect his/her welfare or working conditions. The parties agree that the purpose of the grievance procedures will be best served if all proceedings there under be kept as confidential as is appropriate.

Section 3.2 Definitions

a. A grievance shall mean a complaint by an employee or the HEA that (1) he/she or it has been treated unfairly or inequitably because there has been a violation, misinterpretation of the provisions of this Agreement and (2) he/she or it has been treated unfairly or inequitably because there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of established policy or practice as set by the Board. Grievances of this type as explained in (2) above shall not be subject to arbitration.

- b. As used in this article, the term "employee" shall mean:
 - 1. Any member of the teachers' unit as defined under Section 1.3.
 - 2. A group of teachers having the same grievance. (Anyone who has been part of a group grievance may not file as an individual on the same matter).
- c. "Days" shall mean days when school is in session.

Section 3.3 Time Limits

- a. Since it is important that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, the number of days indicated at each step shall be considered as a maximum.
- b. A grievance must be filed in writing within thirty (30) days of the act or conditions on which the grievance is based.
- c. Failure by the aggrieved employee at any level to appeal a grievance to the next level within the specified time limits shall be deemed to be acceptance of the decision rendered at that level.

Section 3.4 Informal Procedures

If any employee feels that he/she may have a grievance, he/she may first discuss the matter with his/her principal or other appropriate administrator in an effort to resolve the problem informally.

If the employee is not satisfied with such disposition of the matter, he/she shall have the right to have the HEA assist him/her in further efforts to resolve the problem informally with the principal or other appropriate administrator.

Section 3.5 Formal Procedures

- <u>Step 1</u> If an employee is not satisfied with the disposition of his/her grievance by informal proceedings, he/she may present his/her grievance as a written grievance to his/her principal or if he/she is not directly responsible to a principal, then to the appropriate administrative supervisor and shall have the right to have the representatives of the HEA assist him/her. The principal or supervisor may request a meeting with the employee and such representatives prior to making his/her decision; but, in any event, he/she must render his/her decision in writing with copies to the employee within five (5) school days of the written submission of the grievance to him/her by the employee.
- Step 2 Failing satisfactory settlement within such time limits, the aggrieved may with the assistance of the HEA representative, and within five (5) school days after receipt of the written decision by his/her superior, appeal in writing to the Superintendent and such writing shall set forth specifically the basis of the grievance. The Superintendent or his/her representative shall meet with the employee and such representative within five (5) school days of the receipt by him/her of such appeal and shall give his/her decision in writing to the employee and the HEA within ten (10) school days of such a meeting.

- Step 3 Failing satisfactory settlement at Step 2, the employee may appeal to the Board. Such appeal must be made within five (5) school days of receipt of the decision of the Superintendent and must be in writing and set forth the basis of the grievance. The Personnel Committee of the Board shall hold a hearing and shall render a decision in writing to the employee within thirty (30) school days after the receipt of the appeal. If the Board Personnel Committee fails to schedule a hearing within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the appeal, the grievance may be submitted directly to arbitration at the option of the Association.
- <u>Step 4</u> a. Within ten (10) days after receipt of the committee's decision, the Association may submit the grievance to arbitration by notifying the Superintendent of Schools and by filing a demand for arbitration under the voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association which shall then act as the administrator of proceedings.
 - b. The Board and/or the HEA within ten (10) school days after the receipt of such written notice by the Superintendent, shall notify the American Arbitration Association to select a single arbitrator.
 - c. The arbitrator shall be bound by the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules. He/she shall hear only one grievance at a time, and shall have no power to add to, delete from, or modify any provisions of the agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the Association and the Board of Education and shall be final and binding on all items which are arbitrable and binding under the agreement.

Section 3.6 Miscellaneous

- a. Any grievance not processed in accordance with the time limits specified herein shall be deemed waived by the grievant.
- b. Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate a decision within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to appeal to the next level. The time limits specified at any step may be extended in any particular instance by written agreement between the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee and the employee.
- c. Meetings held under this procedure prior to Step 3 shall generally be conducted during school time at a place which will afford a fair and reasonable opportunity for all persons proper to be present. "Persons proper to be present," for the purpose of this Article, are defined as the employee, the HEA representatives, witnesses, and the appropriate Board representatives and witnesses. Employee counsel and Board counsel shall be permitted at Step 3 of the procedures outlined in Section 3.5 above and at Step 4, during arbitration, outlined Section 3.5. If, at the option of the Board, hearings are held during school hours, persons proper to be present shall be excused from their duties without loss of pay.
- d. A grievance which arises from the actions of an official above the rank of the principal will first be discussed with that official and if not resolved may be submitted to the Superintendent or his/her designee and processed in accordance with Step 2 above.
- e. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as compelling the HEA to submit a grievance to arbitration.

- f. No reprisals of any kind shall be taken by either party or by any member of the administration against any participants in the grievance procedures by reason of such participation.
- g. Forms for filing and processing grievances and other necessary documents shall be prepared by the Superintendent, with the approval of the HEA, and made available through the HEA so as to facilitate operation of the formal grievance procedures.

Section 3.7 Representation

The HEA may be formally represented at any level of the formal procedures by a person or persons representing the bargaining unit. The Bargaining Agent shall have the exclusive right to organizational representation. Similarly, the Board may obtain such representation at the same levels.

Article IV – Teachers' Rights

Section 4.1 Rights Within Buildings

- a. Adequate bulletin board space in each school shall be reserved for the exclusive use of the official bargaining agent for the posting of official bargaining agent notices or announcements. Copies of any notice to be posted shall be submitted to the principal. Authorized representatives of the official bargaining agent will be permitted reasonable use of duplicating facilities.
- b. The HEA may call meetings in each school before or after school or during lunch hours whenever such meetings do not conflict with other scheduled activities or programs.
- c. The HEA shall have the right to place material in the mail boxes of teachers and other professional employees. Placement will be made by the authorized representative of the HEA and such representative may, with approval of the school administration, use the public address system for HEA announcements prior to and at the end of the teaching day. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
- d. The president of the HEA shall have access to a telephone in the building(s) where he/she is employed. HEA use of the telephone shall be confined to non-teaching hours.

Section 4.2 Operational Rights

- a. The Board shall make available to the HEA information and raw data which the HEA or the Board considers relevant to negotiations and necessary to the proper enforcement of this Agreement.
- b. If the Superintendent or the HEA requests a meeting with each other to discuss matters of mutual concern, as well as matters relating to the implementation of this Agreement, such a meeting shall be scheduled at a time mutually convenient to both parties.
- c. If the principal of a school or the designated HEA representative for that school requests a meeting to discuss matters of school operations and questions relating to the implementation of this Agreement, such a meeting shall be scheduled at a time mutually convenient to both parties. School operations and policies shall be consistent with this Agreement. The HEA shall inform the principal in writing of the name of its representative for that school.

- d. The Board shall permit the officers of the HEA or designated members of the HEA to visit the schools during their non-teaching hours in order to investigate working conditions, teacher complaints or problems, or for any other purpose relating to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Upon the representatives' arrival, they shall notify the principal's office of their presence. If conferences with teachers are necessary, they shall be scheduled so as not to disrupt the teachers' class assignments.
- e. Whenever the parties mutually agree to schedule meetings during the work day, the teachers required to attend shall suffer no loss of pay.
- f. A copy of the agenda of each public meeting of the Board will be mailed to the HEA at the same time it is mailed to members of the Board of Education and shall be posted in each school.

Section 4.3 Deductions

- a. 1. <u>CONDITIONS OF CONTINUED EMPLOYMENT</u>:
 - All teachers employed by the Hamden Board of Education shall, as a condition of employment, join the Association or pay a service fee to the Association. Said service fee shall be equal to the proportion of Association dues uniformly required of members to underwrite the costs of collective bargaining, contract administration and grievance adjustment.
 - 2. <u>DEDUCTIONS</u>:

The Hamden Board of Education agrees to deduct from each teacher an amount equal to the Association membership dues or service fee by means of pay-roll deductions. Deductions for Association membership dues shall occur in equal amounts from the first twenty (20) paychecks of the school year. Deduction for Association service fees shall occur in equal amounts from ten (10) paychecks from and including the first paycheck in January, in accordance with the procedural requirements for the collection of agency fees pursuant to the U.S. Supreme Court Decision entitled <u>Chicago Teachers Union v. Hudson, et al.</u>, 103 S. CT. 1066 (1986). The amount of Association membership dues and service fee shall be certified by the Association to the Board of Education prior to the opening of school each year.

3. <u>SUBSEQUENT EMPLOYMENT</u>:

Those teachers whose employment commences after the start of the school year shall pay a pro-rated amount equal to the percentage of the remaining school year.

4. <u>FORWARDING MONIES</u>:

The Board of Education agrees to forward to the Association each pay period a check for the amount of money deducted during that month. The Board shall include with such a check a list of teachers for whom such deductions were made.

5. <u>LISTS:</u>

No later than the first paycheck in October of each school year, the Board of Education shall provide the Association with a list of all employees of the Board of Education and the position held by said employees. The Board shall notify the Association monthly of any changes in said list.

- 6. <u>REFERENCE TO ASSOCIATION</u>: The singular reference to the "Association" herein shall be interpreted as referring to the Hamden Education Association, the Connecticut Education Association and the National Education Association.
- 7. <u>SAVE HARMLESS:</u>

The Association agrees to indemnify and save the Board harmless from any claim or lawsuit arising from the Board's fulfillment of its obligation under section 4.3a. The Board agrees that the Association shall assume the exclusive legal defense of any such claim or lawsuit. In assuming such defense on the Board's behalf, the Association will hire and compensate legal counsel. Legal counsel hired by the Association shall confer with the Board. The Association shall have the right to compromise or settle any claim or lawsuit against the Board under this section with the consent of the Board, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.

b. In addition to the payroll deductions required by law the following agencies are eligible for payroll deductions. All requests for deductions must be in writing on approved authorization forms. The list of approved deductions is as follows:

Life Insurance CEA/NEA/HEA recognized agencies and vendors Hamden Education Association Connecticut Education Association National Education Association Credit Union Tax Deferred Savings Plans

- c. No later than September 30 (for new teachers) and June 30 (for those currently employed) of each year, the Board shall provide the HEA with a list of those employees who have voluntarily authorized the Board to deduct dues for the HEA. The Board shall notify the HEA monthly of any changes in said list.
- d. There shall be direct deposit to any bank a teacher's choosing, and teachers shall be notified of such deposits by electronic pay advice.

Article V – Leaves

Section 5.1 Sick Leave

- a. Sick leave is to be used only for the purpose of compensating an employee who is unable to attend his/her regularly scheduled classes because of a bona fide illness.
- b. As long as the teacher remains in the continuous service of the Board, he/she shall be entitled to sick leave with full pay up to fifteen (15) working days each year cumulative to 220 days. Accumulated sick leave may not be used in increments of less than one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$).
- c. For absences because of sickness or accident beyond earned and accumulated sick leave, in its discretion for good cause the Board may grant an employee who has at least three years of service in the Hamden system and who is suffering from a lengthy illness or injury the difference between his/her regular per diem salary and the substitute's daily rate of pay (whether or not a substitute is required).

- d. With prior written warning to a teacher of suspected sick leave abuse, the Superintendent may require that members of the bargaining unit present certification from a doctor following absence due to illness.
- e. 1. The Board of Education will cooperate in the establishment of a sick leave bank on a voluntary basis.
 - 2. The sick leave bank will not become effective unless there is participation by at least fifty (50%) percent of all teachers.
 - 3. Membership in the sick leave bank is voluntary on the part of all teachers in the Hamden school system. Each participating teacher, upon initially enrolling in the bank, shall contribute two days of his/her accumulated sick leave.
 - 4. Each teacher enrolled in the bank will continue to donate one day of his or her accumulated sick leave to the bank in September of each year. If at the start of a school year the bank contains 1,000 days or more, that year the enrolled teacher will not be assessed.
 - 5. The bank will not be depleted below a level of 100 days. If the bank is depleted below 100 days, each participating teacher will be required to contribute an additional day at this time.
 - 6. A participating teacher shall apply to the Superintendent to withdraw days from the sick leave bank. The Superintendent or his/her duly authorized designee, will require the submission of medical proof of illness at any time a participating teacher utilizes the sick leave bank, either by the teacher's own physician or by a physician named by the Hamden Board of Education, at its own expense.
 - 7. The teacher withdrawing membership in the sick leave bank will not be able to withdraw contributed days.
 - 8. Participating teachers shall be permitted to withdraw days from the sick leave bank according to the following criteria:
 - a. A teacher must exhaust his or her own sick leave.
 - b. A teacher must utilize Article 5 Leaves, Section 5.1c as per the teacher's contract.
 - c. A teacher must be sick sixty (60) consecutive days before he/she is eligible to apply to the sick leave bank.
 - 9. Maximum withdrawal from the sick leave bank per occurrence is ninety (90) days for those participating teachers.
 - 10. Participating teachers who withdraw sick leave days from the sick leave bank will not have to replace these days except as a regular contributing member to the bank.

f. Teachers that use FMLA leave for the care of family members, as defined by the statute, shall be entitled to use up to fifteen (15) individual sick days per school years during said period of FMLA leave.

Section 5.2 Military Leave

Teachers who leave the system for the purpose of serving in the Armed Forces, shall upon return to service in Hamden, retain all prior benefits.

Section 5.3 Child Rearing/Maternity Leave

- a. Teachers may utilize paid sick leave during periods of disability due to pregnancy and delivery, or complications related thereto.
- b. A teacher who becomes pregnant shall so notify the Superintendent or his/her designee at least four (4) months prior to the expected date of delivery. Disability leave shall begin at the date when, in the judgment of the teacher's physician, she is no longer able to perform her teaching duties. The physician's statement shall be in writing and filed with the Superintendent or his/her designee. The teacher shall return from her disability when a written statement is filed with the Superintendent or his/her designee by her doctor that she is physically able to return to work.
- c. If a teacher or his/her spouse gives birth or adopts after January 1 of a given school year, he/she may be granted a child rearing leave for the remainder of that school year, if she/he so requests. Teachers returning from a child rearing leave may be returned to his/her previously held or similar position. Teachers may be granted additional child rearing leave at the discretion of the Superintendent of Schools. Teachers will not be eligible for childrearing leave if their spouse has been granted child rearing leave by the Board for the same birth or adoption event.
- d. Any teacher who becomes pregnant shall adhere to the notification and reporting procedures, as stipulated in Section (b) above, for as long as she remains teaching, whether or not she intends to return to teaching after her child is born.

Section 5.4 Sabbatical Leave

- a. The Board envisions sabbatical leave as a special means of invigorating teaching in the Hamden Public Schools. The John Hay Fellowships have demonstrated that superior teachers residing and studying for a year in the lively academic atmosphere of great universities gain new insights and bring back to their fellow teachers, as well as to their pupils, a sense of excitement of learning. Sabbatical leave will be granted to those teachers most likely to feel keenly and convey to others this excitement.
- b. Annually, no more than three teachers may be granted sabbatical leaves with fellowships to support a year of university study.
- c. A candidate must meet the following requirements:
 - 1. Hold at least a Bachelor's Degree.
 - 2. Be a member of the bargaining unit who carries at least three-quarters (3/4) of a full teaching load and who has taught in the Hamden Public School for the six years preceding the sabbatical year.

- 3. Submit a proposed plan of study, at a designated university in the United States or abroad, to be followed during sabbatical leave. (Extensive research or travel may be substituted for such study). Study shall be in the liberal arts and sciences. Candidates will not necessarily be limited to work in the particular area in which they teach; some may profit if part or all of their work is in different areas; others, if they have freedom to do so, and not necessarily for university credit, may explore a range of subjects. Upon his/her return, the teacher shall make a report to the Board.
- 4. Agree not to engage in any remunerative employment during the period of his/her leave, vacations excepted, without the permission of the Superintendent. He/she shall also agree to return to his/her position as teacher in the Hamden Public Schools, barring circumstances beyond his/her control, for the three years immediately following his/her leave.
- d. During a sabbatical leave, which shall be for a full year, the teacher shall receive a fellowship in an amount determined by the Board of up to seventy-five percent (75%) of the annual salary to which he/she would have been entitled had he/she remained in teaching service in Hamden that year. Where deemed appropriate, an allowance may be made toward travel expenses. The teacher may supplement his/her sabbatical salary with other fellowship aid.
- e. A teacher taking sabbatical leave shall advance on the salary schedule as if he/she were teaching and retain all the rights and privileges of an active teacher.
- f. Application for sabbatical leave shall be made on a form furnished by the Superintendent and filed with him/her prior to December 1 of the year preceding that for which leave is requested. It shall be the responsibility of the Superintendent to present the application to the Board (through the Curriculum Committee) with his/her recommendation. The Board shall have the responsibility of making sabbatical awards. Any teacher whose application has been denied shall be entitled to a meeting and discussion regarding that denial.
- g. Annually, no more than five teachers may be granted summer fellowships under the same requirements which apply to the sabbatical leave program for the school year. Each fellowship shall be in an amount equal to three-quarters (3/4) of the teacher's annual salary for the preceding school year, pro-rated.

h. <u>Mini-Sabbatical Program</u>:

All applicants must be tenured, and have taught in Hamden for four years. A waiver of the latter requirement may be granted by the Superintendent/Assistant Superintendent of Schools.

Mini-sabbaticals are designed to supplement the staff development program and may not exceed a total of eight weeks. Only one mini-Sabbatical per year will be granted to any one teacher. Recipients of mini-sabbaticals will be expected to return to the Hamden school system for a minimum of one year following the year of the minisabbatical. All materials produced during a leave will become the property of the Hamden Public Schools, to be shared within the district, wherever appropriate, unless external use or dissemination is mutually agreed upon by the parties in writing. Full pay and benefits of the teacher shall be maintained during the time of leave. Approved mini-sabbatical projects are subject to the availability of a suitable substitute teacher. In the event that such suitable substitute is not available, such approved projects will retain priority status until a suitable substitute is available. In all cases, the granting of mini-sabbaticals rests solely with the Board of Education.

Section 5.5 Professional Leave

- a. A teacher in the system who is an officer of a professional association and/or who is appointed to the staff of a professional association shall, upon written application filed with the Superintendent prior to June 1 of any year, be granted a leave of absence to commence the following September and to terminate on September 1 of the succeeding year. Such leave shall be without pay and may be renewed for one additional year, provided notice has been given to the Board by March 1 of the year of the leave.
- b. Failure of such person to notify the Board in writing of his/her intention to return to work by March 1 of the year in which he/she is on leave shall result in a determination that such teacher has resigned from the system. Any teacher on such leave of absence shall receive credit toward annual salary increments on the salary schedule appropriate to his/her rank.

Section 5.6 Miscellaneous Leaves

- a. Personal leave without pay may be granted by the Superintendent to meet serious personal problems.
- b. Should death occur in the immediate family of a faculty member, he/she shall be allowed five (5) days of leave with pay. These days shall not be charged to sick leave. "Immediate family" means spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, or any member of his/her household. Reasonable time off to attend the funeral of an aunt, uncle, grandchild, grandparent, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, or father-in-law not living in the household shall be granted. Such leave shall be with pay.
- c. Teachers will be granted three (3) personal days per year for personal business that cannot be conducted outside of school hours and/or for religious observation. Personal days are non-accumulative. Every reasonable effort shall be made to provide prior notice of at least forty-eight (48) hours before the request is needed. Three (3) consecutive days may be granted with the Superintendent's approval.
 - 1. The personal day(s) may not be used the day before or after a legal holiday without the permission of the Superintendent.
 - 2. The personal day(s) may not be used during the first two weeks of the school year nor during the last two weeks of school year without the permission of the Superintendent.
 - 3. Teachers requesting such leave shall do so in writing, stating the reason for such leave and providing such additional information as the Administration may reasonably request to assure compliance with the requirements above. Approval shall not be withheld for the following reasons:
 - a. birth/adoption of a child;
 - b. attendance at graduation exercises for self, spouse, children, or grandchildren up to a maximum of two (2) days, if required;

- c. any illness or injury of spouse or children;
- d. mandatory court appearances;
- e. marriage (children, parents, siblings, siblings of spouse). Only one day annually will be allowed for marriage.

Reference to Superintendent herein shall include his/her designee.

- d. There shall be no loss of salary or sick leave allowance when a teacher is subject to quarantine by order of the Health Department for reasons other than the personal illness of the teacher.
- e. A leave of absence without pay or benefits not to exceed four (4) years may be granted to any teacher for the purpose of serving in a public office. However, upon written request from the teacher, said leave may be extended with the approval of the Superintendent and the Board of Education.
- f. A teacher will be allowed to take a general leave, without loss of salary, to begin a program of study which necessitates personal presence in advance of the close of the school year, if a volunteer can be found to cover the classroom responsibility of said teacher. The teacher shall attempt to find the volunteer with the assistance of the appropriate administrator. If no volunteer can be found, said teacher must remain.
- g. An exchange teacher's leave may be granted to any teacher who is exchanged in a given year for a teacher from some other school administrative district in the United States or a foreign country. Such exchange shall be initially recommended by the Superintendent to the Board of Education which shall recommend final action. All rights and privileges of the exchanged teacher shall continue in full force and effect during the exchange period.
- h. The Board may grant leaves of absence without pay to teachers for study. Upon return, a teacher taking such a leave will be guaranteed a position for which he/she is certified.

Section 5.7 Miscellaneous

- a. The Board will protect vested interest in life insurance for any teacher on leave.
- b. The Board will extend to anyone on leave the right to pay into any health insurance plan but will not reimburse the teacher upon return.
- c. A teacher, who returns to full time employment in the Hamden Public Schools upon the termination of any voluntary leave of absence, excluding disability leave shall have his/her accumulated sick leave and all other accrued rights retained. Notice of intention to return, shall be received in the Personnel Office no later than May 1 of the school year preceding the termination of the leave of absence. Placement shall be guaranteed after those being involuntarily and voluntarily transferred have been placed.
- d. Unless specified otherwise, all leaves shall be without pay, benefits, advancement on the salary schedule or accumulation of seniority. Seniority will not be accrued while on leave unless specified otherwise.
- e. The teacher has the privilege of requesting time off for the following: conventions sponsored by any group affiliated with the HEA or with whom the Association is affiliated.

Article VI – Transfers and Promotions

Section 6.0 Definitions

- a. A transfer is the placement of a teacher from his/her current assignment which involves either of the following:
 - 1. Transfer to another school; or
 - 2. Transfer to another department

(Transfer may be either involuntary or voluntary.)

- b. A re-assignment is any other placement of a teacher
- c. A vacancy is any position which the administration determines as being vacant.

Section 6.1 Transfers

- a. Teacher input will be considered when assignments and reassignments are made. When reassignment occurs, volunteers shall be sought before teachers are reassigned. Absent any volunteers, the teacher(s) with the least amount of seniority shall be reassigned before a more senior teacher is reassigned, unless in the judgment of the Superintendent, which shall not be arbitrary or capricious, the best interests of the school district make it inadvisable to do so. Subject to the above, in the event more than one reassignment is necessary, the teacher with the greatest amount of seniority shall have the choice of assignments.
- b. Prior to any involuntary transfer occurring, volunteers shall be sought.
- c. There will be no unjustified "involuntary" transfer. In determining which teacher shall be involuntarily transferred following the identification of vacant positions, seniority within certification area shall be the determining factor in identifying the teacher to be transferred, provided that the Board reserves the right to deviate from seniority for just cause. If a teacher feels an involuntary transfer is unjustifiable, he/she may process a grievance.
- d. The Board shall determine and post open positions for those interested in voluntary transfers. This list will be made available the first of the month beginning with April through the close of school. From the close of school to August 1st, the list shall be posted at the Central Office. The HEA shall receive copies of all such postings. The Board may post such positions on the District website in lieu of the posting provisions set forth above. Upon reasonable notice, a list which indicates length of service in the system of the applicants for a given position will be prepared and made available to the HEA upon request. Generally, transfers shall be effective at the commencement of the following school year.
- e. A teacher who makes application for transfers may list therein choices of schools in order of preference and should also list preferences for grade and subject matter.
- f. Voluntary requests for transfer shall be determined and announced after involuntarily transferred teachers, including those who have been given lay-off notices are placed; but, before teachers returning from a leave of absence are assigned, except for a

disability leave of absence. The HEA President shall receive a list of all transfers and reassignments once placement has been finalized.

In deciding upon an application for a voluntary transfer, the Superintendent will consider: (1) applicants from outside the bargaining unit may be interviewed for any vacant position concurrently with any internal candidates seeking a transfer; (2) only if internal candidate(s) or internal and external candidate(s) are equally qualified, the applicant with the greatest service in the Hamden school system shall be assigned to the vacant position.

Section 6.2 Promotions

- a. Promotional positions are defined as follows: Positions paying a salary differential and/or positions on the administrative-supervisory level that are outside the bargaining unit.
- b. When a position becomes or is about to become vacant, the applicant shall be asked to supply at least the following information:
 - 1. Statement of teaching or educational administrative experience. (Verification is required of all experience other than obtained in the Hamden school system).
 - 2. Evidence of certification to cover the open position.
 - 3. Statement of reasons why the candidate considers himself/herself fit for the position.
 - 4. Description of pertinent experience in field related to the position for which the application has been submitted.
- c. The Board of Education and/or the Central Administration should interview all applicants within the system who meet the qualifications stated. No one need be interviewed twice in the same school year for the same position.
- d. For positions within the bargaining unit, the following shall apply: (1) The position need not be filled from within the Hamden school system; (2) applicants outside the system must meet the same conditions as specified above; (3) if two applicants are equal in qualifications, the position shall be assigned to the applicant with service in the Hamden school system.
- e. All vacancies for promotional positions shall be published by a notice to the Association representative in each school and to the school principal, and during the school year said notice is to be posted on the teachers' bulletin board by the school administrator at least five school days prior to the date applications are closed. During the summer recess, such notices shall be sent to the HEA President and shall be posted at the Central Office for five work days prior to the date applications are closed. All postings shall include job descriptions and necessary qualifications.
- f. Prior to the close of school in June, teachers who are qualified for positions paying a salary differential may notify the Personnel Office of their interest in said positions. All openings shall also be submitted to the local newspapers for publication. Vacancies that must be filled during the summer months will not be filled until said teachers have received notification of the openings by mail. The Board may

post such positions on the District website in lieu of the mailing and posting provisions set forth above.

Article VII – Personnel Files

Section 7.1 Personnel Files

- a. A teacher shall have the right to inspect his/her personnel files and to question or to reproduce any material therein. The Board agrees to continue its policy of treating these personnel files with the highest degree of confidentiality.
- b. Teachers shall receive a copy of all material to be placed in their files after the original date of employment that may form the basis for any disciplinary action or become a part of a formal evaluation. A copy of any externally generated material directed to the administration that will be used in an evaluative manner shall be shared with the teacher upon its receipt.

Article VIII – Non-Professional Duties

It is agreed that the teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and to otherwise supervise the children he/she teaches. Teachers shall not be required to correct standardized tests.

Article IX – Teacher Facilities

Section 9.1 Budget permitting, the following facilities should be provided for teachers, and the Board shall insure their accessibility:

- 1. A room which contains the required equipment and supplies to aid the teacher in the preparation of educational materials. This room is to be known as the Teachers' Workroom. Required equipment shall include an electronic copying machine.
- 2. Space in each school in which teachers may safely store instructional materials and supplies.
- 3. Well-lighted teacher restrooms (separate facilities for men and women).
- 4. Lunchroom facilities and/or a furnished faculty lounge, separate from the students, where a vending machine may be installed. This room may not be used for other purposes.
- 5. A system whereby teachers can expeditiously communicate with the main office in an emergency.
- 6. The Board will provide parking facilities on school grounds for teachers unless off-street parking is available in close proximity to the school.

Where facilities are not available now and where providing the same would require the redesign of a new or existing building, the administration of the school will work with the teachers in providing such facilities.

Section 9.2 A teacher shall notify in writing his/her immediate supervisor of any conditions that he/she believes may be unsafe or hazardous or which he/she believes may endanger his/her health or safety. The Administration shall investigate any such report promptly and shall notify the teacher and the Association of the results of any such investigation.

Section 9.3 The Board shall implement the EPA "Tools for Schools" Plan or an appropriate successor plan.

Article X – Maintenance of Standards

This Agreement shall not be interpreted or applied to deprive teachers of professional advantages heretofore enjoyed unless expressly stated herein. The duties of any teacher or the responsibilities of any position in the Teachers' Unit will not be substantially altered or increased without discussion with the teacher who may request the assistance of the HEA.

Article XI– Miscellaneous

Section 11.1 School Visitors

- a. The Board and the HEA agree that parents or guardians of students who attend the schools are not only welcome to the public schools but also shall be encouraged to visit such schools. However, such visits should be conducted in such a way so as not to interrupt the educational program.
- b. The procedure for visits of parents, guardians, and/or others in a particular school shall be established by the principal in accordance with the Superintendent's general policy with respect thereto, but only after consultation with and advice from the faculty of that school.
- c. The provisions of this section are stated as a matter of policy, and are not subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 11.2 Teacher Directory

- a. Each teacher shall have access to a Teacher Directory including names, addresses, and phone numbers of staff members.
- b. As early in the school year as possible, the HEA will be provided with a manual which gives the names, addresses and phone numbers of all members of the professional staff.

Section 11.3 Personal Data Statement

Prior to November 1, each teacher will be provided with a statement of his/her accumulated sick leave and personal days. Upon request, teachers shall be provided their CEU record of credit for that school year.

Section 11.4 Summer School

- a. The Board shall determine annually whether a summer school is to be held.
- b. If such is held, the following conditions will prevail:
 - 1. Teachers from the previous year's public summer school shall be given preference in summer school positions in their certified areas, if their evaluations show satisfactory performances.
 - 2. Teachers from the previous year's regularly appointed staff shall be given opportunities to fill vacancies in their certified areas which exist in the faculty of the summer school. Length of service and qualifications for the particular vacancy shall determine who is chosen for the vacancy.

3. The regular teaching staff will be notified of vacancies in the summer school faculty by May 15 of any year. Teachers selected for summer school will be notified by June 1 annually.

Section 11.5 Adult Education

Preference shall be given to qualified teachers in the system who apply for positions in the adult education program. Known or anticipated vacancies shall be posted by September 15.

Section 11.6 Pupil Evaluation

- a. The evaluation and/or grade given to a pupil for the completion of an assigned task pursuant to the study of a required or elective subject in the curriculum taught by the teacher, or an approved extra-curricular activity under the supervision of the teacher, is the teacher's indication of the quality and effort of performance by the pupil in relation to the particular task or activity.
- b. The teacher shall be considered to be the expert in evaluating the pupil's work, and the integrity of the teacher shall be respected in grading the work of the pupil. The evaluation and/or grade given by the teacher shall not be changed by another person, except as provided for in 12.6(d) below.
- c. In the event that the evaluation and/or grade should be challenged by the pupil and/or his/her parent(s), and after appropriate conference it appears that all factors involved in the performance of the pupil may not have been known or taken into consideration by the teacher, the teacher has the prerogative and duty to raise or lower such evaluation and/or grade in accordance with all factors involved.
- d. The parent and/or student has the right to appeal the decision to the Superintendent's office. If the Superintendent changes a mark or evaluation, the teacher's name shall be deleted from the permanent record. If identification of the teacher is required by the Connecticut Department of Education or the United States Department of Education, the teacher's name may be provided by the Board.
- e. No minimum limitations shall be set on the number who pass or fail, but every teacher will be expected to give all possible assistance and encouragement to pupils whose work may be below passing standards and to challenge those who may be finding the work too easy.
- f. The provisions of this Section are stated as a matter of policy, and are not subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 11.7 Residual Rights

The work of any teacher developed on his/her own time will be used outside of the school system only with the consent of the individual teacher.

Section 11.8 Operational Agreements

- a. The HEA and the Board agree that this Agreement represents the complete agreement between the parties concerning all conditions of employment and salaries of teachers for the duration of this Agreement.
- b. Individual contracts with teachers shall be consistent with the provisions of this Agreement.
- c. The Board and the HEA shall comply with all State and Federal laws applicable to the collective bargaining process.

- d. The terms "teacher" and "employee" as used in this Agreement, except where otherwise indicated, are considered to apply to the regular certified employees referred to in Article I.
- e. Whenever written notice is required to be given herein, such notice shall be given by letter to the last address of the person as contained in the files of the Board of Education.

Article XII– Amendments to the Agreement

With regard to matters not covered by this Agreement, the Board agrees to make no changes in existing working conditions without prior consultation with the HEA.

Article XIII – Duration

The provisions of this Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2015, and shall continue to remain in full force and effect to and including June 30, 2017; and during such term; no further conditions of employment or other matters shall be negotiated by the parties without the express consent of both parties.

Article XIV– Severability

In the event that any provision or portion of this Agreement is ultimately ruled invalid for any reason by an authority of established competent legal jurisdiction, the balance and remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

Article XV– Salary Schedules

Section 15.1 General Schedules

HAMDEN BOARD OF EDUCATION SALARY SCHEDULE 2015-2016

2015-2016 Teachers Salary Grid					
Step	BA	MA	6th Year	6th +30	6th +45
2	43,601	47,423	52,520	55,067	57,887
3	45,905	49,725	54,821	57,368	59,313
4	47,926	52,123	56,851	59,231	60,935
5	49,307	53,649	58,460	60,879	62,603
6	50,909	55,299	60,052	62,540	64,316
7	53,208	57,492	61,694	64,250	66,077
8	55,364	59,413	63,676	66,493	68,166
9	57,503	61,533	65,796	68,636	70,520
10	59,412	63,450	67,719	70,549	72,500
11	61,526	65,559	69,826	72,477	74,789
12	63,809	67,949	72,134	74,958	77,331
13	68,183	72,405	76,891	79,911	82,239
14	72,778	77,079	81,908	85,122	87,398
15	79,162	83,651	88,953	92,446	94,726
15a	80,723	85,285	90,696	94,257	96,564

Effective July 1, 2015, all teachers shall advance one step to the next higher numbered step on the salary schedule. All teachers on step 15 on the 2014-2015 salary schedule shall advance to step 15a on the 2015-2016 salary schedule.

Master's Equivalent: 30 credits beyond Bachelor's in a program approved by the Superintendent

6th Year Equivalent: 30 credits beyond Master's in a program approved by the Superintendent

Sixth Year or Equivalent is referred to by colleges as: Certificate of Advanced Study or "CAS"

The above course work or degree programs should be in the area in which the teacher is teaching or has taught or in the field of education. Other course work or degree programs should be approved by the Superintendent.

Sixth Year equivalent and 30 credits shall receive a \$1,000 stipend, above the appropriate sixth year or equivalent salary step. This stipend shall be added to their annual salary.

Holders of a doctorate degree shall receive a \$1,000 stipend above the appropriate sixth year and 45 credit salary step. This stipend shall be added to their annual salary.

2016-2017 Teachers Salary Grid					
Step	BA	MA	6th Year	6th +30	6th +45
2	43,601	47,423	52,520	55,067	57,887
3	46,151	49,971	55,067	57,614	59,465
4	48,116	52,353	57,041	59,404	61,092
5	49,434	53,787	58,612	61,037	62,764
6	51,066	55,461	60,206	62,700	64,482
7	53,437	57,709	61,853	64,416	66,247
8	55,570	59,595	63,871	66,715	68,371
9	57,709	61,740	66,002	68,841	70,749
10	59,594	63,633	67,902	70,731	72,687
11	61,732	65,765	70,032	72,663	75,014
12	64,031	68,182	72,358	75,203	77,578
13	68,626	72,856	77,375	80,414	82,737
14	73,221	77,530	82,392	85,625	87,896
15	81,336	85,933	91,385	94,973	97,298

HAMDEN BOARD OF EDUCATION SALARY SCHEDULE 2016-2017

Effective July 1, 2016 all teachers will advance one step on the salary schedule. All teachers on the steps 14, 15, and 15a on the 2015-2016 salary schedule shall advance to step 15 on the 2016-2017 salary schedule.

Master's Equivalent: 30 credits beyond Bachelor's in a program approved by the Superintendent

6th Year Equivalent: 30 credits beyond Master's in a program approved by the Superintendent

Sixth Year or Equivalent is referred to by colleges as: Certificate of Advanced Study or "CAS"

The above course work or degree programs should be in the area in which the teacher is teaching or has taught or in the field of education. Other course work or degree programs should be approved by the Superintendent.

Sixth Year equivalent and 30 credits shall receive a \$1,000 stipend, above the appropriate sixth year or equivalent salary step. This stipend shall be added to their annual salary.

Holders of a doctorate degree shall receive a \$1,000 stipend above the appropriate sixth year and 45 credit salary step. This stipend shall be added to their annual salary.

Section 15.2 Hourly Pay

- a. Summer school teachers effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- b. UBD (Understanding by Design) Reviewer effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- c. Homebound teachers effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- d. Teachers involved in summer workshops effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- e. The Administration will, whenever possible, hold PPT meetings during the school day. There shall be no payment for meetings held at other times.
- f. Teachers involved in rehearsals and/or preparations for public programs effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- g. Teacher-trainers effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00. Per hour defined as a 2:1 ratio of preparation time to length of workshops.
- h. Independent Study Instructors (at Hamden High School) effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- i. TEAM Reflection Paper Reviewer effective July 1, 2012 \$50.00 per paper.
- j. Hamden Middle School Late Bus Duty effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.
- k. Curriculum Writing effective July 1, 2012 \$42.00
- I. Hamden High School Office Detention Duty (after school) effective July 1, 2012 \$35.00.

Section 15.3 Advancement on the Salary Schedule

Teachers who are employed prior to February 1 shall be entitled to a step increase for the following year. Teachers employed after February 1 shall not be entitled to a step increase. Effective for teachers employed after July 1, 1987.

Section 15.4 Extra-Load Remuneration

Teachers asked to teach classes above their required class load shall receive an annual stipend of \$10,000 for teaching such class during his/her preparation time. This stipend shall be prorated for classes that are less than full-year classes. This provision shall neither change nor apply to the established practice of providing additional compensation to teachers who teach more than five (5) class sessions weekly as part of a regular class assignment. Extra-load opportunities shall be offered on a rotating basis based on seniority (within departments),

starting with the most senior faculty member, with the approval of the Building Administrator. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Section 15.5 Salary Adjustment For Change In Degree Status

Any teacher receiving a change in degree status will be placed on the appropriate salary step at the first paycheck of the school year or if notice occurs after the first paycheck of the year but prior to February 1, at the first paycheck in February. It shall be the teacher's responsibility to file all validating original transcripts and/or credentials in the office of the administrator in charge of personnel functions. This must be done no later than one month after the effective date of increased salary recognition.

Section 15.6 Adult Education/Evening High School Teachers

Adult Education teachers who are full time teachers employed by Hamden Board of Education will be paid as follows:

2015-2017 School Years \$34.39

Coordinator \$38.18 Released time may be arranged for this position.

Article XVI - Fringe Benefits

Section 16.1 Premium Co-Payment

- a. Teachers will contribute 16% of the applicable premium cost of their medical insurance under Section 16.2 (attached as Appendices A and B) and 16.3 of this Article (attached as Appendix C). Such payment shall be made via payroll deduction. The Board will make available an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 program which will allow premium contributions to be made on a pre-tax basis. In addition the Board will provide a Flexible Spending Account so as to allow medical/dental and dependent care expenses to be treated in the same way.
- b. The health care premium cost shall be calculated from the rates defined as follows: the expected claims plus the stop loss and administrative fee annually adjusted for claim fluctuation and claim cost including the dental premium, apportioned by class. For the HMO alternative, the premium co-payment shall be based on the rates quoted to the employer.
- c. Payroll adjustments for all contributions mentioned above shall be made on a pro rata basis and deducted over the twenty-one (21) pay period schedule as developed by the administration.

Section 16.2 Health Care

- a. The Board shall provide health insurance plans consistent with that set out as Appendices A and B.
- b. Notwithstanding Section 16.1 above, effective July 1, 2013, the employee may elect the PPO option offered by the Board (Appendix A) as an alternative to the Comprehensive PPO coverage described in Appendix B. In the event of this election, the employee shall pay the difference in cost between the Board's total cost for the PPO plan described in Appendix A and the Comprehensive PPO plan described in Appendix B.

c. The Board shall post the respective current rates for the available insurance plans on its website at least two weeks prior to the annual election at reenrollment.

Section 16.3 Insurance

- a. Life Insurance \$45,000 term life.
- b. Blue Cross Flex Dental Plan (Appendix C) including Type I, Preventative Services; Type II, Basic Services; Type III, Major Services.

Section 16.4 Insurance Waiver

- a. Notwithstanding 16.1 and 16.2 above, teachers who do not otherwise have access through a spouse to health insurance coverage provided by the Town of Hamden or the Board of Education may elect to waive all Blue Cross and Blue Shield coverage and in lieu thereof, to receive a payment of \$1,000.00. Payment to those employees waiving coverage will be made on a pro-rated basis each month during the school year.
- b. Where there is a change in a teacher's status such as, but not limited to, change in the spouse's employment or changes in the spouse's benefit program, the waiver may, by written notice to the Board of Education, be revoked. Upon receipt of revocation of the wavier, coverage by Blue Cross and Blue Shield shall be subject to any regulations or policy restrictions, including waiting periods, which may then be in effect. Depending upon the effective date of coverage, appropriate financial adjustments shall be made between the teacher and the Board so as to insure that the pro-rated basis in Section (a) above was accurate.
- c. Notice per 16.4a., above must be sent by June 15th of the previous school year.
- d. Payment of the insurance waiver, shall be subject to an I.R.S. Section 125. The Board will make available an Internal Revenue Code Section 125 Program which will premium reimbursement only for those electing to waive their benefits.

Section 16.5 In-Service Education

An in-service program designed to foster professional growth will be conducted by the school system, local staff and cooperating colleges and universities.

Section 16.6 Benefits For Retirees

The following provisions apply only to teachers employed prior to the 1999-2000 school year.

The Board shall provide health insurance coverage for those teachers who retire with twenty (20) years of service in the Hamden Public Schools in accordance with the same plan that is provided for teachers who are actively employed. This coverage shall also be provided for the teacher's spouse and eligible dependents (dependents as defined by the carrier). Benefits will continue for the spouse and eligible dependents as defined by the carrier, after the death of the retired employee. If the spouse remarries, the spouse no longer will receive this benefit. Any employee hired after July 1, 1989, shall receive the individual benefits only, and the Board shall not bear the cost of providing benefits for employee's spouse or dependents. Participating employees shall contribute a percentage of the applicable premium cost as follows. The insurance subsidy provided by the Teachers' Retirement Board shall be applied first to pay for Medicare B, if applicable. The subsidy (or remaining portion thereof) shall then be applied to reduce the cost of the applicable insurance plan. The retired employee shall then make a percentage premium contribution on the remaining cost of the applicable plan at the same percentage that applies to active employees at the time of retirement (e.g. 10% in 2002-2003). This percentage premium contribution shall not increase in future years.

All Medicare-eligible retirees shall be required to access Medicare as their primary payor, and the Hamden plan shall be a secondary payor in excess of Medicare A and B for such employees. When employees reach age sixty-five (or otherwise may be eligible for Medicare), the Hamden plan will only provide benefits that are not available through Medicare unless the employee affirmatively establishes that he/she is not eligible for Medicare.

Section 16.7 Longevity

The longevity schedule outlined will be in force on the following schedule July 1, 2015-June 30, 2017:

- 1. After 15 years service \$258;
- 2. After 20 years service \$517;
- 3. After 23 years service \$688;
- 4. After 25 years service \$917;
- 5. After 27 years service \$1,061;
- 6. After 29 years service \$1,205;
- 7. After 31 years service \$1,462;
- 8. After 33 years service \$1,635;
- 9. After 35 years service \$1,778.

Longevity will be paid on the above schedule for service in Hamden only. Longevity payments shall be made in the second paycheck of the subsequent school year for those teachers actively employed on that date.

Section 16.8 Severance Pay

Severance pay will be paid employees who retire with twenty (20) years of service in the town of Hamden at the rate of \$150 per year with a maximum not to exceed fifteen (15) years.

Section 16.9 Change in Carrier

The Board reserves the right to change insurance carriers for any of the coverages stated above, provided that the new coverage and administration is substantially equivalent to the previous plan. Thirty (30) days prior to any changes the HEA shall be notified and provided with the changes for their review prior to implementation.

Section 16.10 IRS Section 457 Plan

The Board will establish and maintain an IRS Section 457 plan for teachers, provided that any administrative costs of such plan shall be borne by the participants.

ARTICLE XVII-MISCELLANEOUS COMPENSATION

Section 17.1 STIPEND POSITIONS

- All stipend positions should be posted and applied for annually.
- Teacher(s) and /or administrators cannot change the number of advisors per position
- No stipend position can be performed in lieu of a duty.
- Only one stipend per teacher, except if a position cannot be filled, then a teacher may be granted a second position or if special training/experience is required.
- Prior to the end of May, club advisors must submit attendance records, minutes from meetings/activities and a summary of accomplishments. These documents are to be submitted to the Human Resources Office.
- Stipend rates for the 2015-2017 contract will be based off of the 2014-2015 Master's Max, with the exception of Dept. Chair which is based off of the 2014-2015 6th Year Max.

ARTICLE XVII-MISCELLANEOUS COMPENSATION

Section 17.1 STIPEND POSITIONS

	Percent of Master's Ma	2015-2017 IX \$84,305
Elementary Teachers in	r charge (1) per bld.	4.2
IAQ/Tools for School A	dvisor (1)	1.0
Faculty Manager - Athle Hamden High (1)	etics –	6.8
Bank Accountant:	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	8.0 6.0
DECCA–Green Dragon Enterprises Advisor (1)	- HHS	7.0
Theatre Director	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	4.0 (max 3 productions) 3.5 (max 2 productions)
Theatre Producer Advis		2.0
Debate Coach-High Sch	nool (1)	3.5
YES – Young Educators	s Society (a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	1.0 1.0
Advisor to Student New	/spaper: (a) High School (2) (b) Middle School (1)	2.6 each 1.5
Yearbook Advisors	(a) High School (2) (b) Middle School (1)	4.0 each 2.5
National Honor Society	- HHS (2) HMS (2)	1.3 each 1.3 each
Peer Orientation – HMS	5 (2)	1.2 each
Student Council Adviso		2.6
	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	2.6 2.6
Class Sponsors HHS:	9th Grade (2) 10th Grade (2) 11th Grade (2) 12th Grade (2)	1.4 each 1.9 each 2.3 each 2.7 each
AP Coordinator HHS (1))	7.0
Independent Study Coc	ordinator HHS (1)	3.0

Video Yearbook HHS (1)	2.6	
Marching Band/Color Gu	7.0	
Marching Band HMS(2)		
TEAM Advisor (1)		4.8
TEAM Assistant Advisor	(1)	2.0
Math Team Advisor (1)	HHS	2.4
Science Bowl Advisor (2) HHS	2.1 each
Chemical Lab Co-Super Chemical Lab Superviso		3.0 each 3.0
Technology Coach	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	2.0 2.0
Robotics (1) HHS		4.0
Math Coach HMS (1)		2.4
Hamden Musical Produc (a) Voc (b) Mus (c) Mus (d) Voc (e) Mus	2.0 2.0 1.0 1.5 1.5	
Hamden High School Ch	namber Choir (1)	1.2
Jazz Band Director	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	2.0 2.0
Mock Trial	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (1)	2.5 2.5
Human Relations	(a) High School (1) (b) Middle School (2)	4.0 2.0 each
BHSU (1) HHS		4.0
Asian Pride Club (1) HH	S	1.0
STOPP (1) HHS		1.0
Spanish Club (1) HHS	1.0	
After Prom Sponsors (1)) HHS	2.2
SADD (1) HHS		

Section 17.2 High School and Middle School Coaches

Percent of	2015-2017
Master's Max	\$84,305

HIGH SCHOOL-HEAD COACHES COACHING/ATHLETIC POSITIONS

FALL

Football Head Coach (1)	9.3
Assistants (5)	5.4 each
Girls Swim Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Soccer Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Boys Soccer Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Badminton Head Coach (1)	5.0
Girls Volleyball Head Coach (1)	6.5
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Cross Country Head Coach (1)	5.5
Boys Cross Country Head Coach (1)	5.5
Girls Field Hockey Head Coach (1)	6.5
Assistant (1)	4.3
WINTER	
Girls Basketball Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistants (2)	4.3 each
Boys Basketball Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistants (2)	4.3 each
Boys Swimming Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Boys Indoor Track Head Coach (1)	5.5
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Indoor Track Head Coach (1)	5.5
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Ice Hockey Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Boys Ice Hockey Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistants (2)	4.3 each
Girls Gymnastics Head Coach (1)	5.5

SPRING

Boys Baseball Head Coach (1)	8.6
Assistants (2)	4.7 each
Girls Softball Head Coach (1)	8.6
Assistants (2)	4.3 each
Boys Track Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Track Head Coach (1)	7.9
Assistant (1)	4.3
Girls Tennis Head Coach (1)	5.5
Boys Tennis Head Coach (1)	5.5
Boys Lacrosse Head Coach (1)	6.5
Assistant (2)	4.3 each
Girls Lacrosse Head Coach (1)	6.5
Assistant (2)	4.3 each
Golf Head Coach (1)	5.5
ALL YEAR	
Pep Squad (1)	1.0
Cheerleader Head Coach (1)	2.9

Dance Team Advisor (1)	6.5
Dance Team Assistant (2)	4.3 each

MIDDLE SCHOOL HEAD COACHES COACHING/ATHLETIC POSITIONS

Boys Football (1)	2.9
Boys Football Assistant	1.7
Boys Soccer (1)	2.9
Girls Soccer (1)	2.9
Boys Basketball (1)	2.9
Girls Basketball (1)	2.9
Girls Softball (1)	2.9
Boys Baseball (1)	2.9

Section 17.3 Intramural Instructors

HIGH SCHOOL Fall Season (8 weeks) Winter Season (8 weeks) Spring Season (8 weeks)	1.7 1.7 1.7
MIDDLE SCHOOL Fall Season (8 weeks) Winter Season (8 weeks) Spring Season (8 weeks)	1.2 1.2 1.2
Intramural Coordinator	3.5

Intramural Coordinator

Section 17.4 Department Chairpersons

	Percent of 2015-17 6 th Year Max \$89,654	<u>/</u>
Department Chair base stipend	5.0%	
Department Chair without director	additional 2.0	
Additional Grade Level responsibilities	additional 0.5	

High School/Middle School Curriculum Leaders

Percent of	2015-2017
Master's Max	<u>\$84,305</u>

3.4%

Section 17.5 Team Leaders

	Percent of Master's Max	2015-2017 \$84,305
Team Leaders - HHS HMS	4.2 each 6.0 each	

Article XVIII - Reduction in Force

In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of teachers due to declining enrollment, program elimination or reduction, or to reduce the number of teachers in a given subject area or program, or eliminate or consolidate positions, the Board shall follow the procedures listed below:

- 1. Teachers not holding a regular Connecticut teaching certificate will be laid off first, provided there are fully certified and qualified teachers to replace them and perform all the needed duties of the laid-off teacher.
- 2. If further reduction is necessary, pre-tenured teachers with the least number of years of service in the Hamden Public School System will be laid off first, provided there are remaining fully certified and fully qualified teachers to replace them and perform all the needed duties of the laid-off teachers.
- 3. If still further reduction is necessary, tenured teachers with the least number of years of teaching experience in the Hamden Public School System will be laid off first, provided

there are fully certified and fully qualified teachers to replace them and perform all the needed duties of the laid-off teachers.

- 4. The order of teacher reduction shall be:
 - a. Temporary employees (i.e. long term substitutes, holders of temporary emergency permits).
 - b. Pre-tenured teachers, according to seniority in the school system.
 - c. Tenured teachers, according to the following procedures:
 - 1. Elementary classroom teachers are considered as a system-wide department and may be laid off following the procedure set forth in Section 5.
 - 2. Teachers of the following subjects shall be considered to hold systemwide seniority: Art, Music, Physical Education.
 - 3. Teachers in the secondary schools may be laid off on a departmental basis (system-wide departments).
 - 4. Special service staff shall be considered system-wide departments within their field of specialization, as follows:
 - a. Guidance
 - b. Speech and Hearing
 - c. Special Education
 - d. School Psychologist
 - e. Literacy Specialists
 - f. Social Workers
 - g. Media Specialists
 - h. Math Specialists
 - i. Inclusion Specialists
- 5. In reaching a decision, the following criteria will be observed:
 - a. Seniority within those departments in which the teacher actually served in the Town of Hamden. Except where a teacher holds a valid endorsement in an area in which he/she has not served in Hamden, said teacher shall (bump) displace a pre-tenured teacher not affected by reduction in force.
 - b. Qualifications as determined by area of certification under which the teacher has served in the Town of Hamden.
 - c. When a teacher has a FTE (full time equivalent) status of less than 1.0, seniority will be accrued on a pro-rata basis (.6 FTE x 10 years service = 6 years within same accumulated seniority and .1 FTE x 10 years service = 1 year). Seniority accumulated prior to July 1, 1989 will not be affected.
 - d. Seniority shall not accrue during a break in service, but accrual shall resume upon return to service, i.e. leaves of absence without pay, lapsed certificates.

- 6. Teachers shall be recalled by seniority to the first vacancy for which they are certified and had previous experience in the Hamden Public School System. Eligibility for recall is limited to fourteen (14) months (two hiring seasons).
- 7. New teachers will not be hired by the Board until all laid-off teachers eligible for recall have been rehired or have declined the opening.
- 8. In the event a tie exists in the seniority totals when it becomes necessary to RIF, the following shall be used to determine who shall be separated:
 - 1. Total number of years in the teaching profession, if a tie still exists
 - 2. The total number of graduate courses completed, as of the effective date of RIF, if a tie still exists
 - 3. When a program or course of study in the Hamden Public Schools would be substantially altered or completely eliminated, the teacher serving in such a program or course of study would be deemed most senior.

Article XIX- Faculty Senate

Upon the majority vote of the faculty of any given school, a faculty senate shall be established according to guidelines agreed to by the HEA and Board of Education.

APPENDIX A Health Plan

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2012 Blue Cross Blue Shield Non-Standard Managed Benefits Health Plan

Century Preferred for the Hamden Education Association

Summary Covered Services	Benefits in Network	Benefits Out of Network
Inpatient hospital services - semi private room, (medically necessary private room), physicians and surgeons charges, maternity charges for mother and child, diagnostic and lab fees, PT and OT, drugs, Operating room fees, dialysisetc.	Covered in full subject to \$100 co-pay, preadmission notification, second surgical opinion, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties. Medical excellence program on an optional basis.	Covered at 80 percent of reasonable and customary above deductible to maximum out of pocket, then at 100% of UCR. Subject to preadmission notification, second surgical opinion, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties.
Outpatient hospital services – Operating and recovery room, surgeons fees, lab and x-ray, Dialysis, radiation and chemo etc.	Covered in full subject to \$50 (\$75 effective 2009-10) co-pay preadmission notification, second surgical opinion, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties.	Covered at 80 percent of reasonable and customary above deductible to maximum out of pocket, then at 100% of UCR. Subject to preadmission notification, second surgical opinion, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties.
Inpatient Mental and Substance Abuse		
Mental Health Inpatient	Covered in full up to 60 days per year, subject to preadmission notification, second surgical opinion, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties. Benefits beyond 60 days available on an out of network basis, subject to deductible and coinsurance.	Covered for up to 60 days per year at 80 percent of reasonable and customary above deductible to maximum out of pocket, then at 100% of UCR. Subject to preadmission notification, second surgical opinion, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties.
Substance Abuse Inpatient	Covered in full up to 45 days per year subject to preadmission notification, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties. Half days Substituted on a 2 for 1 basis.	Covered up to 45 days per year at 80 Percent of reasonable and customary Above deductible to maximum out of pocket, then at 100% of UCR. Subject to preadmission notification, concurrent review and managed care non compliance penalties. Half days substituted on a 2 for 1 basis

Summary Covered Services	Benefits in Network	Benefits Out of Network
Emergency Care	Emergency room visits covered in full above a \$50 (\$75 effective 2009-10) co- pay if the condition meets the sudden and serious requirements. Failure to meet the sudden and serious requirements results in the treatment being treated as an out of network usage, subject to deductible and coinsurance. Treatment on the direction of Physician is to be treated as in network. \$50(\$75 effective 2009-10) co-pay is waived if the individual is admitted.	Emergency room visits covered at UCR above a \$50 co-pay if the condition meets the sudden and serious requirements. Failure to meet the sudden and serious requirements results in the treatment being treated as an out of network usage, subject to deductible and coinsurance. Treatment on the direction of Physician is to be treated as in network. \$50 co-pay is waived if the individual is admitted. (Note: same as in network)
Walk in care (walk in center or physician's office)	Covered in full above \$15 co-pay.	Covered at UCR above \$15 co-pay if sudden and serious. Otherwise treated as an out of network usage. Subject to deductible and coinsurance.
Ambulance	Covered up to \$500 land and \$1,500 air. Non emergency use subject to case management	Covered up to \$500 land and \$1,500 air. Non emergency use subject to case management.
Physician Services		
Medical Care (clinical indications of illness)	Covered in full above \$15 (\$20 effective 2009-10) co-pay. No annual or lifetime maximum.	Covered at 80 percent of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket then at 100% of UCR. No annual or lifetime maximum.
Allergy Care	Covered in full above \$15 (\$20 effective 2009-10) co-pay for examination. No co-pay for injections. No annual or lifetime maximum. Subject to case management.	Covered at 80 percent of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket then at 100% of UCR. Injections at 80 percent of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket then at 100% of UCR. No annual or lifetime maximum. Subject to case management.

Summary Covered Services	Benefits in Network	Benefits Out of Network
Physician Services (Cont'd)		
Well Child Care (no clinical indications or history)	Covered in full above \$0 co-pay. Subject to age based schedule. To 6 months once per month, then to one year every two months, then to two years every three months, then to three years every six months, then once per year to age 18.	Covered at 80 percent of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. Subject to age based schedule. To 6 months once per month, then to one year every two months, then to two years every three months, then to three years every six months, then once per year to age 18.
Adult Physical Examinations (no clinical indications or history)	Covered in full above \$0 co-pay. Subject to age based schedule. Every three years to age 30 then every two years to age 50 then every year.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. Subject to age based schedule. Every three years to age 30 then every two years to age 50 then every year.
Routine Mammography (no clinical indication or history)	Covered in full above \$0 co-pay. Subject to age based schedule. One exam between age 35 and 40, then every two years to age 50 then every year.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. Subject to age based schedule. One exam between age 35 and 40, then every two years to age 50 then every year.
Routine Gynecological (no clinical indication or history)	Covered in full above \$0 co-pay. Limited to one examination per year.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. Limited to one examination per year.
Vision and Hearing Screening	Covered in full above \$0 co-pay. Limited to one of each per year	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. Limited to one of each per year.

Summary Covered Services	Benefits in Network	Benefits Out of Network
Outpatient Therapy Coverages		
Speech Therapy, OT, PT and Chiropractic Services	Covered in full above \$15 (\$20 effective 2009-10) co-pay. Maximum of 50 combined visits per year. Subject to case management after first visit. After maximum is reached further benefits are available on out of network basis.	Covered at 80 percent of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. Maximum of 50 combined visits per year. Subject to case management after first visit.
Electroshock Therapy	Covered above \$15 (\$20 effective 2009- 10) co-pay for up to 15 visits per annum. Subject to case management.	Covered at 80 percent of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket for up to 15 visits per annum. Subject to case management.
Prescription Drug Benefits BlueCare Rx	Covered subject to \$7/\$15 co-pay for generic/brand name prescriptions respectively. Mail order prescriptions shall be at the same co-pay as retail for a three (3) month supply. Unlimited Maximum Effective July 1, 2009: Covered subject to \$5/20/35 co-pay for generic/preferred brand/non-preferred brand prescriptions. Mail order prescriptions shall be at 2x the retail co-pay for a 90 day supply.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket.
Maternity Care (Prenatal and Post Natal)	Covered in full after \$0 co-pay.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket.
Outpatient Mental Health and Substance Abuse	Covered in full after \$25 co-pay up to 50 visits per year applied separately (MH and SA).	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket. 30 visits per year applied separately.
Durable Medical Equipment and Prosthesis	Covered in full subject to case management and buy lease decision.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket subject to case management and buy lease decision.

Summary Covered Services	Benefits in Network	Benefits Out of Network
Home Health and Hospice Home Health Aid	Covered in full for 80 days subject to case management.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket for up to 80 days per year, subject to case management.
Nursing and therapeutic Services	Covered in full for 200 days per year subject to case management.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket for up to 200 days per year, subject to case management.
Hospice Care	Covered in full for up to last 6 months of life subject to case management.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket for up to 60 days per year subject to case management.
Skilled Nursing Facility	Covered in full for up to 120 days per year subject to case management. Additional coverage available as out of network service subject to deductible and coinsurance.	Covered at 80% of UCR above deductible to maximum out of pocket for up to 24 months subject to case management.
Eligibility	Insured, spouse and unmarried dependents to age 25.	Insured, spouse and unmarried dependents to age 25.
Non-Compliance Penalties	\$500 per event	\$500 per event
Deductible	\$100 per individual. Generally not applicable to in network usage. Family max. at 2 x individual.	\$200/400/600
Coinsurance	20% to a maximum \$500 per individual, family coinsurance maximum is 2 x individual. Generally not applicable to in network services.	20% to a maximum of \$1000/2000/2500
Maximum out of pocket	Sum of co-pays plus costs of deductibles and co-pays in out of pocket rolls and noncompliance penalties.	Sum of co-pays, deductibles, coinsurance and amounts above UCR fee schedule and noncompliance penalties.
Payment Basis	Negotiated fees no balance billing.	% of UCR

No reduction in covered services unless specifically identified above.

APPENDIX B Anthem Century Preferred Comprehensive PPO EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2013				
BENEFITS	IN-NETWORK	OUT-OF-NETWORK		
FINANCIAL:				
Deductible	\$300/\$600	\$1000/\$2000		
Co-Insurance	90%/10%	70%/30%		
Co-Insurance Maximum (individual/family)	\$600/1,200	\$2,000/\$4,000		
Cost Share Maximum (individual/family)	\$900/\$1,800	\$3,000/\$6,000		
Maximum Lifetime Benefit Per Member	Unlimited	Unlimited		
PREVENTIVE CARE:	Deductible Waived			
Physical Examination-Well Child Care	No copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Physical Examination- Adult	No copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Routine Ob/Gyn, Eye exams, Mammography, hearing screening	No Copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Immunization	No copay	Ded. & Coins.		
MEDICAL CARE:				
Physician Office Visits	\$20 copay	Ded & Coins.		
Specialist Office Visits	\$20 copay	Ded & Coins.		
Outpatient Surgical Services (in hospital or surgi-center)	Ded & Coins	Ded & Coins.		
Diagnostic X-Ray or Lab Examination	No Copay	Ded & Coins.		
PET/CAT/MRI Exams	No Copay	Ded & Coins.		
Outpatient Rehabilitation	\$20 Copay	Ded & Coins.		
Physical Therapy/Occupational Therapy/Speech	Limited to 50 visits	Ded. & Coins.		
Therapy/Chiropractic with Rollover to Out of Network	combined per year			
Ob/Gyn Care	\$20 Copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Prenatal and Postnatal Maternity Care	\$20 initial visit	Ded. & Coins.		
MENTAL HEALTH CARE:				
Outpatient Treatment	\$20 Copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Inpatient Treatment	Ded & Coins	Ded. & Coins.		
SUBSTANCE ABUSE:				
Outpatient Treatment	\$20 Copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Inpatient Treatment	Ded & Coins.,	Ded. & Coins.		

APPENDIX B Anthem Century Preferred Comprehensive PPO EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2013				
BENEFITS	IN-NETWORK	OUT-OF-NETWORK		
ALLERGY CARE:				
Office Visits/testing	\$20 copay	Ded. & Coins.		
Injections No Limit	No copay	Ded. & Coins.		
HOSPITAL CARE:				
Semi-Private Hospital Room Admission**	Ded & Coins			
Skilled Nursing up to 120 days per calendar	Ded & Coins,	Ded. & Coins.		
year				
Rehabilitation Facilities 60 days per calendar	if admitted from hospital no additional ded			
Durable Medical Equipment	No Charge	Ded. & Coins.		
Emergency Care				
Emergency Room (waived if admitted)	\$100 copay	\$100 copay		
Ambulance Services	No copay	No copay		
Urgent Care (participating centers only)	\$75 copay	Not covered		
Prescription Drug – MP4				
\$5/25/40 Unlimited 2X MO (90 day supply)				

*All other services not listed above have the same level of benefits and cost shares as the PPO plan effective 7/1/2011. There are no cost of care edits included.

APPENDIX C

FLEX DENTAL PLAN

HOW IT WORKS

This dental plan provides coverage for a wide range of dental services up to individual maximum of \$2,000 per insured person per calendar year for the services listed below.

DIAGNOSTIC & PREVENTIVE SERVICES

Payable at 100% of usual, customary and reasonable charges at participating dentists:

Initial oral exams - 1/36 months Periodic Oral exams - 2/Year Prophylaxis - 2/Year Topical application of fluoride - 2/Year to age 19 Space maintainers to age 19 X-rays Emergency Treatment Bacteriological Cultures Biopsy Palliative Treatment Sedative Fillings

BASIC SERVICES

Payable at 85% of usual, customary and reasonable charges at participating dentists:

Fillings Endodontics Root canals Stainless steel crowns (Primary Teeth) Extractions **Oral Surgery** Repair of dentures - 1/Year Relining of dentures - 1/ 2 Years Recement crown Recement bridge Repair bridge **Relining of Dentures General Anesthesia** Periodontics Hemisection Apicoectomy & Retrograde Fillings Root Canal Therapy Pulpotomy **Diagnostic Casts** Scaling & Root Planning

Provisional Splinting Periodontal Applications Root Recovery Alveoplasty Incision & Drainage Cyst Removal Pin Retention Silicateplastic & Composite restorations

MAJOR SERVICES

Payable at 50% of usual, customary and reasonable charges at participating dentists:

Crowns - 1/Tooth/5 Years Post and core - 1/Tooth/5 Inlays - 1/Tooth/5 Years Prosthodontics - 1/Tooth/5 Years Gold Inlays & Onlays Gold Post & Core Frenectomy Occlusal Adjustment Full Dentures Partial Dentures Fixed Bridge

Onlays - 1/Tooth/5 Years

Calendar Year Maximum :

\$2000 per person per calendar year Applies to all three categories

PRINCIPAL LIMITATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

Services received from a dental or medical department maintained by an employer, a mutual benefit association, labor union, trustee or other similar person or group; Services for which the member incurs no Dentists' Charge or which are services of a type ordinarily performed by a physician, or charges which would not have been made if insurance was not available; Services with respect to congenital malformations; Services, treatment or supplies furnished by or at the direction of any government, state or political subdivision; Any items not specifically listed in this Policy; Lost or stolen dentures or denture duplication; Gold foil restorations; Temporary services and appliances; such as crown or tooth preparations and temporary fillings, crowns, bridges and dentures; Application of sealants, regardless of reason; Services as determined by the company, that are rendered in a manner contrary to normal dental practice. A complete list of exclusions appears in the Master Group Policy on file with your employer or your Certificate of Membership.

This is not a legal policy or contract. It is only a general description of your Blue Cross & Blue Shield benefits. If there are discrepancies between the dental rider and this summary, the dental rider shall control.

<u>Appendix D</u>

Hamden Public Schools

Length of Student Day

Hamden High School	6 hours and 29 minutes
Hamden Middle School	6 hours and 34 minutes
Hamden Elementary School	6 hours and 49 minutes
Hamden Collaborative Learning Center	5 hours and 15 minutes

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereunto executed by their proper officers, have hereunto set their hands.

HAMDEN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

HAMDEN BOARD OF EDUCATION

BY: _____ Diane Marinaro President Hamden Education Association

BY: ______ John Keegan Chairperson Hamden Board of Education

Date

Witness

Witness

Witness

Witness

Witness

Witness